68749-2

No. 68749-2-1

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON FEDERAL SAVINGS,

Appellant,

v.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The superior court erred in entering summary judgment against
Washington Federal, which "must be given the benefit of every favorable
inference which reasonably may be drawn from the evidence." <u>Jacob's</u>

<u>Meadow Owners Association v. Plateau 44 II, LLC</u>, 139 Wn. App. 743,
765, 162 P.3d 1153 (2007). At a minimum, there is a genuine issue of fact
as to whether the personal representative (the "PR") ever mailed the
statutory notice of claim to Washington Federal, and therefore whether it
filed its creditor's claim in a timely manner.

The established facts also underscore the erroneousness of granting summary judgment against Washington Federal:

- The borrower and decedent, Dr. Robert Klein, owed
   Washington Federal more than \$355,000 on the loan he
   obtained from it so that he could acquire a Tacoma
   condominium (the "condo"), and the amount owed
   Washington Federal far exceeds the value of the condo.
- The borrower's estate is solvent, with more than enough assets to pay the remaining unsecured balance on his
   Washington Federal loan and all other debts and expenses.
- The PR was fully aware of the loan, the debt owed on it,

- and Washington Federal's desire to be paid in full.
- Washington Federal had procedures in place to ensure that
  if probate notices were sent to it, they would be identified
  upon receipt, logged and promptly dealt with.
- Washington Federal did not receive a probate notice to creditors with respect to the borrower's estate until the PR filed the petition in this case, and its records reflect that.
- Washington Federal filed its creditor's claim 13 days after first receiving the probate notice to creditors.

In granting the PR's motion for summary judgment, the superior court erroneously disregarded the existence of an issue of fact as to whether appropriate statutory notice was "actually given" as required. In doing so, the court provided the borrower's solvent estate with a windfall.

The PR seeks to justify this windfall by accusing Washington Federal of making a "poor business decision" in loaning his father the money to buy his condo, because the condo is now worth much less than the amount owed on the loan. Brief of Respondent ("BR"), pp. 2-3.

The PR ignores Washington Federal's reliance on the substantial other assets of the PR's physician father, as well as the condo as security. Washington Federal looked to both the borrower and the collateral as

sources of repayment. The PR's previous sworn statement demonstrates that Washington Federal made its loan to someone with ample assets to repay it. CP 185-86. That hardly qualifies as a "poor business decision". In any event, Washington Federal's agreement to loan the borrower money provides no basis for helping the PR avoid repaying that loan.

This Court should reverse the entry of summary judgment against Washington Federal and remand the case for further proceedings.

#### II. ARGUMENT

- A. <u>A Genuine Issue of Material Fact Exists and Accordingly the Superior Court Erred in Entering Summary Judgment.</u>
  - The Evidence Washington Federal Submitted in the Superior Court Is Part of the Appellate Record to Be Considered by this Court.

The PR argues that this Court should ignore much of the evidence that Washington Federal submitted in the superior court, evidence that demonstrates the existence of a genuine issue of material fact. BR, pp. 26-27 n. 3. The Court should reject this argument. What the PR urges is contrary to the established standards governing this appeal. As this Court has stated previously:

It is our task to review a ruling on a motion for summary judgment based on the precise record considered by the trial court. Wash Fed'n of State Employees, Council 28 v. Office of Fin. Mgmt., 121 Wn.2d 152, 163, 849 P.2d 1201 (1993); Green v. Normandy Park, 137 Wn. App. 665, 678, 151 P.3d 1038 (2007). That record includes those

documents designated in an order granting summary judgment and any supplemental order of the trial court. RAP 9.12.

Jacob's Meadow, 139 Wn. App. at 754-55.

Here, all of the evidence Washington Federal has cited and relied upon on appeal was identified and listed by the superior court in its April 11, 2012 order granting summary judgment. CP 388-90. Thus, that evidence is part of the record on appeal. As this Court has previously held, it has a "duty" to review the superior court's ruling on summary judgment on the record that includes that evidence. See Jacob's Meadow, 139 Wn. App. at 756; see also RAP 9.12.

- The Evidence in the Record, Viewed in the Light Most
   Favorable to Washington Federal as it Must Be,
   Demonstrates that Summary Judgment Is Unwarranted.
  - a. Washington Federal Did Not Receive the Probate
    Notice to Creditors that the PR Claims Was Mailed
    in January 2011.

As set forth at length in Washington Federal's opening brief, there is extensive and detailed evidence that it did not receive the probate notice to creditors that the PR claims was mailed in January 2011.

The PR suggests that perhaps Washington Federal chose not to file a claim sooner because it did not "worry" about the condo's value being less than the amount owed on the loan. BR, p. 2. This unsubstantiated speculation is contrary to the undisputed facts. The **evidence** is that

Washington Federal first received the probate notice to creditors, and first learned of the need to file a creditor's claim, in late April 2011—and promptly filed its claim. (Up to that point, the PR had notified Washington Federal only that he would continue to make monthly payments on the debt—and he had continued to do so. CP 111; 104.)

Moreover, it is undisputed that, far from not "worrying" about filing probate creditors' claims, Washington Federal had careful and thorough policies and procedures in place to identify, log and track any probate notice to creditors sent to it, and to make sure that it filed a timely creditor's claim once it received any such notice. CP 193-94; 218. The uncontroverted evidence is that use of Washington Federal's claim filing process was not triggered here because the bank did not receive the January 2011 notice the PR alleges was sent. CP 191-94; 217-18.

The PR asserts that "WaFed did not file and serve its creditor's claim until one year after it received notice from the PR, on May 10, 2011." BR, p. 6. There is no factual basis for asserting that Washington Federal received notice in May 2010, and the PR's citations to the record do not support that assertion. The undisputed evidence is that Washington Federal first received the probate notice to creditors 11 months after that,

when a copy came with the PR's petition for instructions. CP 194.

The PR asserts that his December 29, 2010 Affidavit of Reasonable Diligence "corroborated" his January 21, 2010 letter to Washington Federal about his father's death and the probate proceedings (in which he represented he would be making monthly loan payments).

BR, p. 5. In fact, as Washington Federal pointed out in its opening brief, that affidavit inaccurately stated that the PR had instructed **all** creditors to send any creditor's claims to his attention. The PR's January 21, 2010 letter to Washington Federal actually said nothing at all about submitting a creditor's claim. CP 150.

The PR now asserts that these 2010 documents are not "germane" to this appeal. BR, p. 5 n. 1. If nothing else, though, the inaccuracy of the PR's representation in his December 29, 2010 Affidavit further undermines the credibility of his assertions about the purported January 2011 sending of a probate notice to creditors to Washington Federal, and helps demonstrate why the superior court erred.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The PR did not accept the superior court commissioner's May 2011 ruling that Washington Federal was entitled to recover the full amount owing on the loan. Nevertheless, the PR quotes the commissioner's comment that Washington Federal "got the notice". BR, p. 7. There was no evidence of receipt of a January 2011 notice; the record shows that Washington Federal did not receive the notice until late April 2011.

The PR asserts without citation that Washington Federal never suggested below that discovery was necessary to resolve a factual dispute about whether it received actual notice. BR, p. 8. The question, however, is not whether discovery took place; the question is whether, making all reasonable inferences in favor of Washington Federal, the evidence in the record establishes a genuine issue of material fact. It does.

There will be a need for discovery if the Court remands the case for trial, as it should. Washington Federal had no obligation, however, to conduct discovery in order to defend against a CR 56 motion and to argue and show the existence of a genuine issue of material fact.

b. An Issue of Fact Exists as to Whether the PR Gave Actual Notice to Washington Federal.

In the PR's appellate brief, he addresses at length certain probate procedures and principles. BR, pp. 11-15. As set forth in its opening brief, Washington Federal agrees that the probate creditor claim statute, Chapter 11.40 RCW, and related Washington probate provisions, apply here, as informed by the requirements of the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution. Washington Federal does not contend that its claim for recovery on the loan is exempt from Washington's statutory probate procedures. See Opening Brief, pp. 16-19.

Rather, the central issue on appeal is whether there is an issue of

fact regarding whether the PR gave Washington Federal "actual notice" as required by Chapter 11.40 RCW and the United States Constitution, and therefore whether an issue of fact exists as to the timely filing of Washington Federal's creditor's claim.<sup>2</sup>

The PR challenges Washington Federal's emphasis on the lack of receipt of notice in January 2011. The PR ignores the non-receipt cases Washington Federal cited from states with probate notice statutes that, like Washington's, speak of "mailing" actual notice. See Opening Brief, pp. 19-20; 2009 Kan. Stat. Ann. 59-2236; Miss. Code Ann. § 91.7.145.

The PR relies heavily on <u>Orix Financial Services v. Phipps</u>, 2009 WL 30263 (S.D.N.Y.), 72 Fed. R. Serv. 3d 400 (2009), in seeking to justify the superior court's decision in this case. The PR disregards key distinguishing facts of <u>Orix</u>, which in addition did not involve a summary judgment motion and related standards and requirements. The analysis and discussion in <u>Orix</u> do not show that summary judgment was warranted here, given the factual issues present. Indeed, it is evident even from <u>Orix</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Washington Federal did argue below, and Judge North agreed, that the special notice provisions of the deed of trust on the condo required confirmation of receipt of the probate notice to creditors. Washington Federal is not arguing on appeal that the provisions of the deed of trust add to the notice requirements otherwise established by Washington statute and the United States Constitution.

that the purported recipient of a mailed notice may raise and establish an issue of fact about whether the notice was actually sent.

In Orix, the issue was whether a default judgment should be vacated. The evidence of service of the summons and complaint was solid. The plaintiff sent them to the defendant by both first-class and certified mail—there was "definitive proof" that the plaintiff had "properly mailed notice." Id. at 11. The plaintiff also delivered copies to the defendant's registered agent, who then mailed them to the defendant. Id. The defendant had an attorney who communicated with her about the case and "clearly put [her] on notice of the proceedings." Id. at 11 n. 4.

Here, unlike in <u>Orix</u>, there was no "definitive proof" of proper mailing. On the contrary, even in the PR's submissions there is at best ambiguous evidence, from those who apparently lack personal knowledge, that the notice was mailed. The summary judgment standard governing this appeal requires that these ambiguities and uncertainties, and the lack of established personal knowledge, be construed against the PR.

It would be particularly inappropriate to apply a lower standard in this kind of case, and thereby to create incentives not to ensure that required notices are in fact given. Just as the PR, if he prevails, will create a substantial windfall for his father's estate at the expense of a bona fide

creditor that never received the required statutory notice, many other estates would stand to gain if inadequate evidence of mailing is allowed, on a motion for summary judgment, to overcome conflicting evidence.

Along with the ambiguities and uncertainties in the PR's own evidence, there is overwhelming evidence from Washington Federal of non-receipt. This evidence also helps establish an issue of fact about whether notice was in fact sent. Opening Brief, pp. 29-33. See also Tassoni v. Dep't. of Ret. Sys., 108 Wn. App. 77, 87, 29 P.3d 63 (2001) (presumption of mailing of notice rebutted where receipt of notice was credibly denied, no copy was in the file at the office where the notice would have been received, and the person responsible for placing such notices in the file testified that she did not remember receiving it).

The discussion in <u>Orix</u> is not to the contrary. There, the court cited authority that "denial of receipt of notice, **without more**, is insufficient to rebut the presumption that notice was properly delivered through the mail." <u>Id.</u> at 11 (citation omitted; emphasis added). Here there is much more than mere denial of receipt by the addressee, Barbara Peten. Even considering only the Washington Federal submissions, there is extensive evidence of its established procedures for identifying, logging and tracking notices such as a probate notice to creditors—and undisputed evidence of

the complete absence of any record of such notice in the relevant files. CP 191-94.

## c. <u>Washington Federal Is Not Relying on Inadmissible</u> Hearsay to Establish That an Issue of Fact Exists.

The PR argues that the Washington Federal declarations rely on inadmissible hearsay. BR, p. 26. Evidence of the absence of particular records or data regularly made and preserved by a business is a well-recognized hearsay exception, however. See ER 803(a)(7). The hearsay rules do not bar such evidence when it is offered to prove the nonoccurrence or nonexistence of a matter. Id.

The evidence Washington Federal submitted on the notice issue is precisely the kind deemed to be persuasive regarding whether events that would give rise to an accelerated filing deadline actually took place.

Evidence of the "routine practice of an organization" is relevant to prove that the conduct of the organization "on a particular occasion" was " in conformity with the routine practice." ER 406. Moreover, Washington Federal witnesses are competent to testify to matters within their personal knowledge and responsibilities. ER 601, 602.

As described in more detail in Washington Federal's opening brief (see pp. 9-10; 29-31), Washington Federal has "standard policies and procedures in place for handling incoming mail, and specifically Probate

Notices to Creditors." CP 193-94. The procedures include placing the original paper notice in the relevant loan file and "making an electronic notation of receipt of the Notice in the electronic servicing notes for the specific loan account." Id. There is no copy of a probate notice to creditors for the borrower's estate in the relevant loan file and no notation of receipt in the relevant electronic servicing notes. CP 194.

The PR challenges Betsy Nelson's testimony about other employees' non-receipt of any notice to creditors. BR 26. Testimony regarding Washington Federal's policies and procedures, and the absence of any indication in its files of receipt of a probate notice to creditors, is significant and undisputed. Given that the addressee of the January 2011 letter on which the PR relies is Barbara Peten, Ms. Nelson's testimony about other employees' denials is far less important than the sworn testimony of Ms. Peten herself. Her declaration is part of the record, and she flatly denies receiving the notice and states that (in keeping with Washington Federal's general business practices) there would be a record of it if she had received it. CP 217-18. It is undisputed that there is none.

# d. The Mailbox Rule Supports Reversal of the Superior Court Ruling.

In its opening brief, Washington Federal cited and relied on Washington's familiar common law mailbox rule, which also supports reversal of the superior court order. Opening Brief, pp. 31-33. As stated in <u>Tassoni v. Dep't. of Ret. Sys.</u>, 108 Wn. App. 77:

Under Washington law, a party seeking to prove mailing must show (1) an office custom with respect to mailing and (2) compliance with the custom in the specific instance.

Id. at 86 (italics in original; citation omitted). Because the PR did not personally mail the probate notice to creditors to Washington Federal, instead relying on his former attorney, and no showing of that attorney's office custom with respect to mailing or compliance with that custom was made, a genuine issue of material fact remains as to whether the probate notice to creditors was actually mailed.

The PR urges this Court to disregard the mailbox rule, insisting that "[i]f the legislature had intended for the mailbox rule to apply to probate proceedings it would have codified the rule or its language in the probate statute." BR, p. 18. The PR fails to address the various mailbox rule cases Washington Federal cited to demonstrate that summary judgment was wrongly granted here. See Opening Brief, pp. 31-33.

As Washington Federal pointed out previously, the mailbox rule

provides an appropriate framework and set of principles in this case. <u>Id.</u>

Failure to comply with the mailbox rule not only rebuts any presumption of receipt but precludes a finding of proper mailing of a notice as required by statute. <u>See Tassoni</u>, 108 Wn. App. at 87. In addition, the PR's insistence that the rule must be ignored here because the Legislature failed to include or refer to it in the probate statute ignores basic notions of statutory interpretation and reliance on the common law.

It is well-established that a court may look to the common law to help construe or interpret a statute. State v. Berry, 200 Wash. 495, 509, 93 P.2d 782 (1939). The common law also "may serve to fill interstices that legislative enactments do not cover." In re Parentage of L.B., 155 Wn.2d 679, 689, 122 P.3d 161 (2005) (internal quotation omitted).

Moreover, "[t]he Legislature is presumed to know existing case law in areas in which it is legislating, and thus, common law may be considered in ascertaining the proper scope of a statute." Wash. Fed'n of State Emps. v. Joint Center for Higher Educ., 86 Wn. App. 1, 7, 933 P.2d 1080 (1997) (citing In re King Cnty. for Foreclosure of Liens, 117 Wn.2d 77, 86, 811 P.2d 945 (1991)). In addition, because the Legislature is presumed to have that knowledge, "a statute will not be construed in derogation of the common law unless the Legislature has clearly expressed

its intention to vary it." Price v. Kitsap Transit, 125 Wn.2d 456, 463, 886 P.2d 556 (1994) (citations omitted). "Absent an indication that the Legislature intended to overrule the common law, new legislation will be presumed to be consistent with prior judicial decisions." Matter of Marriage of Williams, 115 Wn.2d 202, 208, 796 P.2d 421 (1990) (citations omitted).

Thus, the mailbox rule remains an appropriate one to apply here.

There is no indication that the Washington Legislature intended for it to be ignored in this context. It would make little sense to do so, given the constitutional significance of giving "actual notice" and the potential impact on the due process rights of those involved if it were ignored.

The PR has submitted no evidence of any office custom with respect to mailing or of compliance with any such custom in this instance. Ms. Favretto's statement, in the alternative, that she "caused" the purported notice to be mailed can only be understood to mean that she gave it to some unidentified person to mail. That does not establish mailing as an uncontested fact, particularly in conjunction with the other evidence. The declarations of the PR and his former attorney also fail to establish actual mailing of the statutory notice to Washington Federal.

The PR asserts that Ms. Favretto's affidavit "[t]rack[s] the

language of RCW 11.40.020(1)," but in fact it does not. Nothing in the statute uses the language "I have given, or caused to be given" that Ms.

Favretto's affidavit contains. The PR does not dispute that this language suggests that Ms. Favretto failed to actually mail a notice to Washington

Federal herself, instead leaving certain steps in that process to unspecified others—none of whom have submitted an affidavit claiming that they carried out the process.<sup>3</sup> The PR cites Brackman v. City of Lake Forest

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