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

creditors. RCW 11.40.051; RCW 11.40.020. The statute does not require 

receipt or confirmation of mailing, as WaFed asserts. ct, Br. of App. 19-

20. WaFed provides no legal authority whatsoever to support its position 

that actual notice requires proof of notice beyond that which is expressly 

set forth in the probate statute. Because WaFed's argument is unsupported 

by the evidence and contrary to probate law, this Court should reject it. 

WaFed's argument, Br. of App. 18, that constitutional Due Process 

requires more than notice by mail is meritless. The U.S. Supreme Court 

has repeatedly recognized that "the mails are an 'efficient and inexpensive 

means of communication' that generally may be relied upon to deliver 

notice where it is sent." Orix Fin. Servs. v. Phipps, 72 Fed. R. Servo 3d 
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400,2009 WL 30263, at *10 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 6,2009) (quoting Mullane v. 

Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 319, 70 S. Ct. 652, 94 

L. Ed. 865 (1950)); Mennonite Bd. of Missions v. Adams, 462 U.S. 791, 

103 S. Ct. 2706, 77 L. Ed. 2d 180 (1983); Greene v. Lindsey, 456 U.S. 

444, 102 S. Ct. 1874, 72 L. Ed. 2d 249 (1982). The cases following 

Mullane have held that "actual receipt of notice by a party is not required 

to satisfy the dictates of due process." Orix Fin. Servs., 72 Fed. R. Serv. 

3d 400, 2009 WL 30263 at *9-10 (concluding that even if the Court were 

to accept defendant's affidavit averring that she had never received notice 

from any party, the certificate of mailing notice was all that was necessary 

to satisfy Due Process). "[T]he relevant inquiry for due process purposes 

focuses on the party providing the notice, and asks whether that party has 

provided 'notice reasonably calculated' to inform interested parties." Id. 

(noting that both the United States Supreme Court and the Second Circuit 

have ruled that under most circumstances notice "sent by ordinary mail is 

deemed reasonably calculated to infom1 interested parties" of an 

impending action) (citing Weigner v. City of New York, 852 F.2d 646,649 

(2d Cir. 1988)). "Indeed, the Supreme Court has applied this rule - that 
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due process is satisfied upon the proper mailing of notice - in a wide 

array of proceedings where a defendant's property rights are at issue." Jd. 2 

To hold otherwise would allow any creditor whose claim has been 

barred to resurrect that claim simply by asserting the mail was never 

delivered. Because WaFed's argument that notice by mail violates Due 

Process is contrary to the law, this Court should reject it. 

Furthermore, contrary to WaFed's assertion, the mailbox rule has 

no bearing on the issues in this case. In its brief, WaFed urges this Court 

to apply the common law mailbox rule to its analysis of the issues in this 

case. Br. of App. 31. But the probate statute - not the mailbox rule -

governs the determination of whether actual notice was mailed. If the 

legislature had intended for the mailbox rule to apply to probate 

proceedings it would have codified the rule or its language in the probate 

statute. As it stands, the probate statute contains no such language, and 

WaFed provides no legal authority to support its argument for applying 

2 See, e.g., Tulsa Prof,! Collection Servs., 485 U.S. at 490 (notice to 
creditors in probate proceedings); Mennonite Bd. of Missions, 462 U.S. at 
799-800 (notice of mortgagee of tax foreclosure); Greene v. Lindsey, 456 
U.S. 444, 455,102 S. Ct. 1874,72 L. Ed. 2d 249 (1982) (notice to public 
housing tenants of forcible entry and detainer actions); Schroeder v. City 
of New York, 371 U.S. 208, 214, 83 S. Ct. 279, 9 L. Ed. 2d 255, 89 
A.L.R.2d 1398 (1962) (notice of condemnation proceedings); Walker v. 
City of Hutchinson, 352 U.S. 112, 116, 77 S. Ct. 200, 1 L. Ed. 2d 178 
(1956) (notice of condemnation proceeding). 
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the mailbox rule in this case. Indeed, there is no case in Washington that 

applies the mailbox rule in the context of a probate proceedings, or that 

otherwise invalidates a probate notice based on this rule. WaFed tacitly 

concedes this point by characterizing the mailbox rule as "instructive," Br. 

of App. 31, rather than controlling. Because the mailbox rule does not 

apply, this Court should reject WaFed's argument on this point. 

2. The Deed of Trust Does Not Trump the Non-Claim 
Statute's Requirements 

WaFed has highlighted that the Deed of Trust contains enhanced 

notice provisions (which benefit the bank, but not the borrower), and that 

under those provisions the PR's notice was not effective until actually 

received. Br. of App. 4. WaFed suggests that its duty to file a creditor's 

claim in the probate matter was, therefore, never triggered. This is 

incorrect. Notably, only the Promissory Note is the basis of this breach of 

contract lawsuit. The Deed of Trust is not at issue. Moreover, neither the 

Deed of Trust nor the Promissory Note can alter or trump the notice 

requirements of the non-claim statute. See RCW 11.40.010; Bakke v. 

Buck, 21 Wn. App. 762, 767, 587 P.2d 575 (1978) (if a creditor's claim is 

not timely filed, its claim against estate is barred); Hanks v. Nelson, 34 

Wn. App. 852, 855-56, 664 P.2d 15 (1983) ("Compliance with the 

statutory non-claim requirements is essential for recovery."); Estate of 
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Earls, 164 Wn. App. 447, 262 P.3d 832 (2011) (strict compliance with the 

statutory requirements was "essential to recovery"). A contract "which is 

contrary to the terms and policy of an express legislative enactment is 

illegal and unenforceable." State v. Northwest Magnesite Co., 28 Wn.2d 

1,26-27, 182 P.2d 643 (1947). In sum, no contractual provision between 

the parties which contradicts the mandatory non-claim statute may be 

enforced. 

Logic also compels this rule. As a matter of practical necessity 

and sound policy, the way estates are administered in probate must be the 

same for all estates. The probate statute, discussed above, controls the 

manner of notice of the pendency of probate. If WaFed were allowed to 

require greater notice, every other creditor to an estate could also impose 

its own byzantine notice rules that would undermine the purposes of the 

probate statute. Imposing other notice provisions would be impractical 

also because a personal representative has the duty to ascertain known 

creditors, but may not even be aware of a given debt owed by the estate. 

Yet a personal representative could not adhere to notice provisions of 

which he or she is not even aware. Probate law requires, and imposes, the 

same notice of all estates in probate, and no provision of the Promissory 

Note that is the subject of this action (let alone the Deed of Trust, which is 

not the subject of this action) may change those notice requirements. 
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Judson v. Associated Meats & Seafoods, 32 Wn. App. 794, 798, 651 P.2d 

222 (1982) (the non-claim statute, RCW 11.40.010 et seq., is more strictly 

enforced than general statutes of limitation, is mandatory, is not subject to 

enlargement by interpretation, and cannot be waived). Because the non-

claim statute supersedes the notice requirements set forth in the 

Promissory Note and Deed of Trust, WaFed's argument fails. 

3. WaFed Missed the Deadline for Filing Its Creditor's 
Claim 

It is undisputed that, after the PR provided actual notice in the 

January 28, 2011 mailing, WaFed failed to file a creditor's claim until 

May 10, 2011. Compare CP 116-20 with CP 122-24. Because WaFed's 

creditor's claim was not timely filed, WaFed is forever barred from 

asserting its creditor's claim against the Estate. See RCW 11.40.010; 

Bakke, 21 Wn. App. at 767 (if creditor's claim not timely filed, claim 

against estate is barred); Hanks v. Nelson, 34 Wn. App. at 852 

("Compliance with the statutory non-claim requirements is essential for 

recovery."). Thus, the Promissory Note is not enforceable, and the trial 

court properly granted summary judgment for the PRo WaFed's ability to 

collect the debt on the Promissory Note is now limited to the amount 

secured by the Deed of Trust, which amount is determined by the market 

value of Condo 11 W. 
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4. In re Estate of Earls Directs the Outcome of this Case 

This Court recently reiterated the foregoing principle in In re 

Estate of Earls, 164 Wn. App. 447, 262 P .3d 832 (2011). There, the Court 

rejected a creditor's attempt to enforce a personal guaranty and ruled that 

the claim was barred because the creditor failed to timely present the claim 

against the estate by the deadlines set forth in the statute. Id. 447. The 

Court found that the creditor's claim to enforce the decedent's personal 

guaranty was subject to the non-claim statute, and that strict compliance 

with the statutory requirements was "essential to recovery." Id. 450-51 

(citing Messer v. Shannon's Estate, 65 Wn.2d 414, 415, 397 P.2d 846 

(1964)). On this basis, the Court held that the creditor's claim was barred 

and affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the creditor's action to enforce 

the personal guarantee. Like the creditor in Earls, WaFed's failure to 

comply with the probate laws bars it from filing a creditor's claim against 

the Estate. 

E. WaFed Submitted No Evidence That Would Raise a Genuine 
Issue of Material Fact 

There is no genuine issue of material fact in dispute. WaFed 

complains that (1) the PR lacked "personal knowledge" of the mailing of 

the notice, and (2) the signed affidavit of mailing from the PR' s attorney's 

office is insufficient to establish the fact of mailing notice to creditors. In 

support of the motion for summary judgment, the PR's declaration 
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included the probate notice to creditors that his former attorney, George L. 

Smith, had mailed to WaFed and the affidavit of mailing signed by Mr. 

Smith's legal assistant, Anne Favretto, attesting to the fact that she caused 

the notice to creditors to be mailed to WaFed on January 28, 2011. CP 

116,119. 

Tracking the language of RCW 11.40.020(1), Ms. Favretto's 

affidavit stated, "On January 28, 2011, I have given, or caused to have 

given, the creditors listed on said Exhibit A, actual notice by mailing to 

the creditor's last known address, by regular first class mail, postage 

prepaid true and correct copy of the notice to creditors filed herein." CP 

119. Exhibit A lists WaFed as a creditor. CP 120. Nonetheless, WaFed 

complains for the first time on appeal that the affidavit of mailing "is at 

best ambiguous" about whether "Ms. Favretto herself put anything into the 

mail." Br. of App. 27. 

Because WaFed did not raise any Issue with regard to 

Ms. Favretto's affidavit in the trial court, this Court should decline to 

address its attempt to do so for the first time on appeal. "On review of an 

order granting or denying a motion for summary judgment the appellate 

court will consider only evidence and issues called to the attention of the 

trial court." RAP 9.12; RAP 2.5(a) ("The appellate court may refuse to 

review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court."); see 
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Sourakli v. Kyriakos, Inc., 144 Wn. App. 501, 509, 182 P.3d 985, 989 

(2008) ("An argument neither pleaded nor argued to the trial court cannot 

be raised for the first time on appeal. "). 

In the alternative, if the Court decides to address WaFed's new 

allegations regarding Ms. Favretto's affidavit on appeal, it should reject 

WaFed's argument on the merits. 

As discussed above, the declarations and affidavits filed by the 

PR's attorney and the attorney's legal assistant, in addition to the 

declaration filed by the PR, are sufficient to demonstrate that notice to 

WaFed was mailed exactly as the statute requires-"by regular first class 

mail." RCW 11.40.020; CP 119. "Where a statute is clear on its face, its 

meaning is to be derived from the language of the statute alone." 

Brackman v. City of Lake Forest Park, 163 Wn. App. 889, 262 P.3d 116 

(2011) (holding that an affidavit of mailing is sufficient proof of service 

under the Mandatory Arbitration Rules, where the affidavit was made 

under oath or under penalty of perjury) (citation and quotes omitted). 

The evidence shows that the PR provided actual notice by directing 

the mailing of notice to WaFed. The affidavit of mailing attests that a 

witness, Ms. Favretto, caused notice to be mailed to WaFed on January 28, 

2011. CP 119. This affidavit was executed near the time of the events it 

memorializes. Id. This notarized affidavit of mailing is sufficient 
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evidence of service. Its language satisfies the requirements of legal 

service in other contexts. See RCW 11.76.040 (PR required to provide 

notice of place and time of hearing by caus[ing] a copy of the notice "to be 

mailed"). It would be news to law offices across Washington that notice is 

inadequate where a declarant attests that he or she "caused to be served" a 

pleading or notice. WaFed's argument would require that lawyers and 

their legal assistants escort every pleading to the mail room and then on to 

the post office box in order to competently certify that service was 

effected. 

WaFed also appears to take the position that a signed affidavit of 

mailing notice is insufficient proof of mailing unless the affidavit's author 

can confirm, based on first-hand knowledge, that the notice was 

subsequently received by the creditor. But this contention is inconsistent 

with the probate statute, which provides that actual notice is satisfied by 

"mailing" the probate notice to creditors by regular first class mail. The 

probate statute does not require that the creditor's receipt of notice be 

witnessed in person or otherwise confirmed. 

WaFed complains (incorrectly) that the PR, his attorney Mr. Smith, 

and Ms. Favretto lacked personal knowledge of mailing the Probate 

Notice to Creditors to WaFed. Br. of App. 25-28. But the declaration that 

WaFed itself submitted demonstrates that bank officer Betsy Nelson 
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lacked personal knowledge of the facts in her declaration, including 

whether WaFed employees received the PR's probate notice to creditors. 

CP 191-94. Ms. Nelson's declaration includes statements about an 

"investigation" into whether pertinent employees received the PR's notice 

and how "such employees" responded to questions apparently asked 

during the investigation. See Br. of App. 30-31; CP 191-94. However, it 

is unclear whether Ms. Nelson was involved in the investigation, how she 

obtained the information about the investigation and whether she 

communicated with "every employee ... who was a possible recipient" of 

the notice. CP 193. She lacks personal knowledge sufficient to testify to 

all the facts she submits. Ms. Nelson's declaration also relies on 

inadmissible hearsay. See CP 191-194. While it is clear that Ms. Favretto 

has sufficient personal knowledge of causing the Probate Notice to 

Creditors to bemailed.itis WaFed's evidence which is not admissible and 

not based on personal knowledge as required by CR 56( e). 3 

3 WaFed has technically failed to submit any evidence in this case because 
it did not properly submit its evidence pursuant to CR 56(e)'s 
requirements that sworn or certified copies of all papers attached to an 
affidavit be submitted. Instead, it submitted its evidence via two "requests 
for judicial notice," pointing the trial court to pleadings filed under other 
cause numbers. See CP 176-320; 379-87. At oral argument the trial court 
invited WaFed to present its evidence in a proper foml, but WaFed failed 
to resubmit its evidence. Because the evidence on which WaFed relies 
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Even when vIewmg WaFed's evidence and all inferences 

therefrom in the light most favorable to WaFed, there is simply no dispute 

that the PR provided the probate notice to creditors as required under the 

non-claim statute, as Ms. Favretto's contemporaneous signed and sworn 

affidavit of mailing demonstrates. See Ensley v. Mollmann, 155 Wn. App. 

at 750-51; CP 119. WaFed's speculative assertion that a genuine issue of 

material fact remains is unsupported by the evidence and contrary to the 

requirements of the non-claim statute. See Turngren v. King County, 33 

Wn. App. at 84. No evidence contradicts the affidavit attesting that the 

notice was mailed; the PR is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. 

By contending that the PR must establish the chain of custody of 

the notice to creditors in order to prove that actual notice was made, 

WaFed is attempting to change the probate statute's standard for "actual 

notice." Contrary to WaFed's argument, the probate statute requires no 

further notice from the PR to trigger the time period for filing a creditor's 

claim with an estate. See RCW 11.40.051. The legislature expressly 

established the requirements of notice. It presumably sought to allow 

notice by a means that would reduce the costs for settling estates, and 

would be affordable for estates large and small alike. The legislature 

was never properly admitted in the trial court, it is not preserved on 
appeal. 
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could have required personal service, akin to a summons, but chose not to 

do this. The legislature presumably hoped to avoid litigation over whether 

such notice was effected, and so created a simple and efficient system, via 

first class mail, for establishing that notice was effected. WaFed's

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